Epis

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISS COPY

NO. 2008-KA-01540-COA

SCOTT M. TANNER

APPELLANT

VERSUS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI



APPELLEE

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Jackson County, Mississippi Criminal Action No. CI-2004-10857(2)

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GEORGE S. SHADDOCK ATTORNEY AT LAW POST OFFICE BOX 80 704 WATTS AVENUE PASCAGOULA, MS 39568-0080 TELEPHONE: 228-762-7188 FACSIMILE: 228-762-7266 MISS. STATE BAR NO. 06720

Attorney of Record for the Appellant

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-KA-01540-COA

SCOTT M. TANNER

APPELLANT

VERSUS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Statement of the Case	
Procedural history and disposition in the lower court.	1.
Factual history of the case.	3.
Summary of the Argument	5.
Argument and Citation of Authorities	
1. Whether the substitution of the dates of the alleged crime by the State in the Indictment was prejudicial to the Defendant.	6.
2. Whether the trial court erred in overruling the Defendant's Motion to Suppress the previously recorded telephone conversations between the Defendant and the alleged victim.	8.
3. Whether the Verdict of the Jury is contrary to the evidence adduced at trial and the law of this State.	9.
Conclusion	12.
Certificate of Service	13

TABLE OF AUTORITIES

CASES	PAGE(S)
Bell v. State, 963 So.2d 1124 (Miss. 2007)	8.
Bishop v. State, 982 So.2d 371 (Miss. 2008)	11.
Brown v. State, 934 So.2d 1039 (Miss.App. 2006)	6.
Burrows v. State, 961 So.2d 701 (Miss. 2007)	8.
Edwards v. State, 755 So.2d 443 (Miss.App. 1999)	11.
Forkner v. State, 902 So.2d 615 (Miss.App. 2004)	7.
Frei v. State, 934 So.2d 318 (Miss.App. 2006)	6.
Hoops v. State, 681 So.2d 521 (Miss. 1996)	7.
Manning v. State, 765 So.2d 516 (Miss. 1999)	10.
McIntosh v. State, 917 So.2d 786 (Miss. 2005)	10.
Pruitt v. State, 528 So.2d 828 (Miss. 1988)	11.
Ross v. State, 954 So.2d 968 (Miss. 2007)	12.
Spears v. State, 924 So.2d 772 (Miss. 2006)	7.
Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293, 87 S.Ct. 1967 (1967)	9.
Sumrall v. State, 257 So.2d 853, appeal after remand 272 So.2d 917 (Miss. 1972)	7.
Swan v. State, 806 So.2d 1111 (Miss. 2002)	10.
United States v. Bell, 115 F.3d 1211 (5th Cir., Miss. 1997)	8.
Warden Md Penitentiary v. Hayden, 497 U.S. 294, 87 S.Ct. 1642 (1967)	9.
West v. State, 437 So.2d 1212 (Miss. 1983)	11.

Miss. Code 1972, Ann., Sec. 97-3-95(1)(d) (Amend. 1998)

STATUTE

b¥CE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Whether the substitution of dates of the alleged crime by the State in the Indictment was prejudicial to the Defendant.
- Whether the trial court erred in overruling the Defendant's Motion to
 Suppress the previously recorded telephone conversations between the Defendant and the alleged victim.
- 3. Whether the Verdict of the Jury is contrary to the evidence adduced at trial and the law of this State.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural history and disposition in the lower court.

The procedural history of the case of the State of Mississippi versus Scott McKinley Tanner, Jackson County Criminal Action No. CI-2004-10857(2), though long in time, is fairly direct and simple to follow. The time length can be attributed to many continuances requested both by the State and the defense, and the fact that Scott Tanner chose to change counsel in 2005.

After his arrest in May 2004, Scott Tanner was indicted by the Jackson County Grand Jury on October 26, 2004, (CP-7), for the alleged sexual battery of Angel Lane, ("AL"), in March and April of 2004, in violation of Miss.Code 1972, Ann, Sec. 97-3-95(1)(d) (Amend. 1998). These events allegedly occurred at AL's home in Vancleve, Mississippi, and at the time of the alleged crimes, Scott Tanner also resided in this home. AL was 11 then 12 years of age in this period, and Scott Tanner was 29 years old.

Pleading "Not Guilty" at his arraignment on November 30, 2004, (CP-12),

Scott Tanner was released on bond and his defense commenced with D. Neil Harris as Scott's counsel. The general Motion for Discovery from the State, (CP-14) was filed on December 6, 2004, and excepting the various continuances, the record is silent until February 13, 2007, when the State filed its Motion in Limine, (CP-48), concerning any discussion of sentencing questions at trial.

At this point leading to trial, the record completed itself. On May 7, 2008, Scott Tanner filed his Motion to Suppress, (CP-77), the audio recordings as made by the Land family of telephone conversations between Scott and AL shortly after the discovery of the aleged trysts between the two and after Scott's banishment from the Land home. The State responded immediately on May 9th, (CP-79), and this Motion was denied. The State then filed its Witness List, (CP-84), also on May 9, 2008, with Tanner filing his Witness List on May 13, 2008. (CP-86). The case then went to trial.

The trial of Scott Tanner commenced on May 12, 2008 with Motion hearings and the case-in-chief commenced on May 13, 2008, lasting three (3) days. Ay trial, the State called six (6) witnesses, including expert witnesses Dr. Eric Lucas, the emergency physician who performed the physical examination of AL, and Sara Caruthers, the forensic examiner and counselor of the Department of Human Services who handled AL's case. Scott Tanner called three (3) witnesses, including himself, and after all appropriate motions were made and the Jury instructed, the Jury returned a Verdict. (CP-107) of Guilty of Sexual Battery, with the sentencing deferred. (CP-112).

The Sentencing Hearing in this case was held On July 28, 2008, with Scott Tanner calling his mother, Ruby Tanner as his only witness. Numerous medical and

peer reviewed concerning his dwarfism were also introduced. At the conclusion of the hearing the trial court sentenced Tanner to a twenty (20) year term, with fourteen (14) years to serve and six (6) years probation. The court also assessed a fine of \$2,500.00 and court costs together with the requirement of Tanner to register as a sexual offender. (CP-118).

Scott Tanner then files his Motion for New Trial, (CP-123), on August 19, 2008, alleging three (3) errors for the trial court's review, his Motion being denied, (CP-125), by the trial court without comment on September 5, 2008. (CP-125) From these adverse decisions, Scott Tanner timely perfected his appeal to this Court. (CP-126, 128 and 132)

Scott Tanner has been incarcerated from July 28, 2008 to the present date.

2. Factual history of the case.

At the time of the alleged crime in late April, 2004, Scott Tanner was a twentynine (29) year old young man, who had been affected with achondroplastic dwarfism
since birth. Also at this time, Scott was considered a god friend by the Land family who
lived in the same neighborhood near Vancleve, and for a period of over four (4) years
had lived in the Land household. Scott, in addition to his work, would at times baby sit
the Land children, including AL, and take them to school and sport affairs when their
parents could not. In short, excepting his extremely small size, 4'4", 89 lbs at the
time of trial, and minor sight and hearing defects, Scott Tanner was a fairly normal
person.

This changed when AL made her allegations against Scott to her parents at the end of April, 2004. However, the record in the case shows that the initial report of this

alleged crime did not come from the Lands, but from a third-party on May 10, 2004, to Tamara Mimms, a member of the Jackson County Sheriff's criminal investigation unit. (T-58) Officer Mimms then referred the case to the Department of Human Services who did the initial workup on the case, Mimms become more involved during the interviewing and testing process and the field examination. Once complete and probable cause being determined by the Officer, Scott Tanner was then arrested and charged with the sexual battery of AL. After the full prosecution of the case, Scott Tanner was convicted of sexual battery on May 15, 2008, and sentenced on July 28, 2008 for his crime.

Scott Tanner now appeals these suspect determinations.

free contra

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

 $F(z) = \chi_{z} = \chi(z)$

The argument in this case is very direct, the charges against Scoot Tanner were basically manufactured by the Land family and their eldest daughter, AL, to cover what may have been a sexual indiscretion by AL with another party. It is instructive that the State for all its witnesses, did not establish anyone with personal, scientific knowledge of the alleged penetration of AL. Just the statements of AL.

This, standing by itself, is just not enough. Also, the "tender years" exception was not available to justify the amount of hearsay in this trial. Finally, AL's parents, TL and IL, for all their scripting over four years, at trial had an extremely difficult time of keeping dates, actions and people straight. No amount of rehabilitation on the part of the State could cure this.

Speculation, possible opportunity and far reaching assumptions do not equal proof beyond a reasonable doubt. The Verdict and Sentence in Scott Tanner's case require reversal.

ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITIES

1. Whether the substitution of the dates of the alleged crime by the State in the Indictment was prejudicial to the Defendant.

This issue is fairly direct. During the presentation of the State's case-in-chief, there was both confusion and inexactitude in the various dates of the alleged trysts between Scott Tanner and AL. AL was fairly consistent in stating that her alleged assaults by Scoot began on Match 21, 2004 and ended in late April. (T-115) Her parents were only sure of April 29, 2004, the "discovery date". In Dr, Eric Lucas' testimony, he speculated that the last occurrence could have been in early May, 2004. It seemed as if Scott Tanner was faced with a moving target.

In an apparent compromise, at the close of its case-in-chief, it settled on the time period of April 28 to 30, 2004. As will be shown below, there are extreme contradictions to this time frame raised in Scott's defense. The point here is that both the uncertainty as to time, and the exposure of Scott to alleged, uncharged crimes, was distinctly prejudicial to his defense.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

To anticipate the State's argument on this issue, the permitted amendment was one of form, not substance. *Brown v. State*, 934 So.2d 1039 (Miss.App. 2006). It has also been generally held that even if an indictment is amended as to dates or time of an occurrence, as long as the defendant is fully and fairly advised of the charges against him. *Frei v. State*, 934 So.2d 318 (Miss.App. 2006) Considering the general rule, one could conclude the State's amendment was proper. But in Scott Tanner's case, there are some distinguishing factors that rebut this presumption.

LEGAL PRINCIPLES

It is to be remembered here that the State made its motion to amend after the full presentation of its case-in-chief. (T-155) This is after four (4) State witnesses had testified to alleged assaults occurring over a five week period. Thus the Jury was exposed to other, uncharged acts against Scott that would be nothing less than prejudicial. *Hoops v. State*, 681 So.2d 521 (Miss. 1996); see also *Sumrall v. State*, 257 So.2d 853, appeal after remand, 272 So.2d 917 (Miss. 1972)

Another factor that weighs in on this issue is was the defendant aware of the State's intention prior to the amendment, or its possibility, *Forkner v. State*, 902 So.2d 615 (Miss.App. 2004), to allow preparation for his defense. As this was Scott Tanner's first collision with the Mississippi criminal justice system, the usual habitual offender justifications for the State's late amendment in his case do not apply.

What is critical to Scott Tanner on this point is the prejudice this last minute amendment to substance caused to his defense. He was just before submitting his case-in-chief, and the landscape was changed. Though perhaps certain defenses were still available to him, when one looks at the standards of *Spears v. State*, 942 So.2d 772 (Miss. 2006), one element sticks out. It is the question whether the defense under the amendment would be available as it was contemplated under the original indictment? The answer Scott would give is no, as his defense strategy was truncated by the State's amendment. When the revised charge went to the Jury in his case, he was defending an alleged specific crime, and several inchoate and uncharged crimes at the same time. This is reversible.

2. Whether the trial court erred in overruling the Defendant's Motion to Suppress the previously recorded telephone conversations between the Defendant and the alleged victim.

The audio tapes at issue in this question underscore a fundamental theory of the defense of Scott Tanner: the case of AL was a "manufactured" case by her parents to get get rid of Scott. This can only explain to delay of the reporting of the allegations, and then, through a surrogate. (T-58) When Scott originally called AL after he was asked to leave the Land home to find out "why", the tapes went on the phones. At the hearing on the suppression motion, the State argued: (1) the tapes were made by a private citizen and not law enforcement, thus admissible; and, (2) Scott Tanner, at the time of the tapings was not in custody, or accused of a crime. (T-8 and 9) In fact, the alleged crime had not been reported. To add insult to injury, when finally submitted to the Jury, only a redacted version of the tapes was submitted. (T-82) What "sanitation" of these tapes that occurred will never be known. The Lands had their case ready to go.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review of this issue is well-established and well-taken: The admissibility of evidence rests within the trial court's discretion. *Bell v. State*, 963 So.2d 1124 (Miss. 2007); see also *Burrows v. State*, 961 So.2d 701 (Miss. 2007). However, this discretion should be tempered by the question, is the evidence as presented so structured to secure a conviction without full disclosure of the facts and circumstances of its existence to the court and the defendant. *United States v. Vaccaro*, 115 F.3d 1211 (5th Cir., Miss. 1997).

LEGAL PRINCIPLES

The audio tapes we are dealing with here could easily be classified as non-tangible evidence that can be suppressed if found suspect. *Warden Md. Penitentiary* v. *Hayden*, 387 U.S. 294, 87 S.Ct. 1642 (1967) In the case of this "manufactured" evidence, Scott Tanner submits it was so suggestive, that it should have been suppressed pretrial, and certainly after objection at trial. (T-84) *Stovall v. Denno*, 388 U.S. 293, 87 S.Ct. 1967 (1967) In denying Scott's Motion to Suppress, error occurred.

3. Whether the Verdict of the Jury is contrary to the evidence adduced at trial and the law of this State.

There are two overriding issues in this case that speak to this question. First, AL's case is not one of the "tender years" exception to hearsay. The Court found this was not the case with AL. (T-145 to 149) Quite frankly, excepting only the obvious mistakes in dates, that led to a Motion for Mistrial by the Defendant, (T-135 to 137), which was denied, the State in its examinations of the Land family, spent an untowed amount of time, rehabilitating the scripted times and dates of their stories.

Secondly, there is the impossibility factor on the part of Scott Tanner. There is no question that AL's mother, IL took Scott to the emergency room at Ocean Springs Hospital, admitting him just before 10:00 am on April 27, 2004, for a severe onset of kidney stones that had been building up to an acute nature for two or three days previous to Scott's admission. (Def.Ex – 2) At the hospital, IL was met by Scott's mother, Ruby Tanner and his sister, Carla Waltman. After being referred to Dr. Charles Holeman, Scott's regular urologist for April 28th, Mrs. Tanner and Scott returned to the Tanner

fusion could not effectively rebut his defense.

1000

LEGAL PRINCIPLES

Other than the fact there was alleged sexual penetration of AL, though not conclusively submitted by Dr. Eric Lucas, (T-101), the State's case was largely built upon two suspect areas of evidence: (1) the questioned and redacted telephone conversations between Scott and AL, and, (2) largely non-testimonial conversations between AL and her family and the therapist. The State relied upon the justification that Scott Tanner, though accused, had not been charged or arrested, and most of this was done by non-governmental individuals. Yet even this justification does not pass the muster of *Bishop* v. *State*, 982 So.2d 371 (Miss. 2008)

Over and above the impossibility factor addressed above, there was no showing by the State or its witnesses of any nature of predisposition on the part of Scott to assault his friend AL. *West v. State*, 437 So.2d 1212 (Miss. 1983); Accord: *Pruitt v. State*, 528 So.2d 828 (Miss. 1988) Other than a fantasy in the minds of the Land family, there was no direct, scientific proof submitted as to Scott's culpability.

This demonstration of bias was also supported by the denial of Scott Tanner's requested Jury Instruction D-5, (CP-104), or the expanded presumption of innocence instruction, denied for the reason it was allegedly covered in the Court's General Instruction C-1, (CP-90). Though elements were covered in C-1, Tanner submits in a case as close as this one, the Jury had a right to see the more specific outline of the presumption of innocence. *Edwards v. State*, 755 So.2d 443 (Miss.App. 1999)

The result in this case can only be described as a verdict based upon conjecture and speculation in spite of uncontradicted evidence to the contrary. Being guided only by these elements, an incorrect Verdict was reached. *Ross v. State*, 954 So.2d 968 (Miss. 2007) The Verdict requires reversal.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons, facts and authorities as set out in the argument above, Scott

Tanner submits he has presented abundant grounds for this Court's reversal and
rendering of the Verdict and Sentence of the Circuit Court of Jackson County,

Mississippi. In the alternative, Scott Tanner requests this Court's reversal and remand
of said Sentence and Verdict.