IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SCOTT M. TANNER

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-1540

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: DEIRDRE MCCRORY
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

Scott M. Tanner was convicted in the Circuit Court of Jackson County on a charge of sexual battery and was sentenced to a term of 20 years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections with six years suspended. (C.P.118) Aggrieved by the judgment rendered against him, Tanner has perfected an appeal to this Court.

Substantive Facts

T.L. testified that at the time in question, he lived with his wife, I.L., and their four children on family property in Vancleave. His friend Scott Tanner, approximately ten years younger than T.L., also lived with the family. Tanner appeared to be well accepted in T.L's household and became something of a surrogate father to the children. Tanner often spent time with them, taking

them "to the mall and Wal-Mart and different places." T.L. and Tanner also enjoyed driving and working on race cars together. (T.69-73)

The morning of April 28, 2004, T.L. "got up about 5:45" and decided to wake his children up a few minutes earlier than usual. When he went into the girls' bedroom, he noticed that his oldest daughter, A.L., who had just turned 12, was not in her top bunk. Nor was she in the bathroom. T.L. then looked into the bedroom where Tanner and T.L's older son slept, but did not see her there either. At that point he "checked the bathroom again to make sure." When he "turned around and looked," he saw A.L. "coming out of the boys' bedroom." When he "asked her what she was doing in there, ... she said she really didn't know. She woke up and she was asleep on the floor." Remembering that A.L. had not been on the floor when he looked for her initially, T.L. "got suspicious then." At that point he took her into his wife's bedroom, where he and his wife "started talking to her more ... " A.L. "kept sticking to the same story" at that time. Her father told her that he and her mother were going to have her "checked" to see if she had been "messed with," at that time they sent her to school. (T.75-78)

Later that morning, I.L. checked her daughter out of school, took her back to the family home and "started talking to her and got different answers out of her." I.L. then called her husband and advised him of what she had learned. T.L. "told her that she needed to have a certain party to get away from the house." In other words, he "told her to tell Scott he needed to leave for awhile until" they "figured everything out." (T.79)

¹Tanner shared this room with T.L.'s oldest son, who frequently stayed with his grandmother. T.L. was not sure whether this son was at home at this time, but he was sure that Tanner was. (T.76)

At this time, T.L. "had a house phone and a business line" as well at his residence. Both services were listed under his name. That day or the next, he installed a recording device "in case they [A.L. and Tanner] tried to contact each other." T.L. testified that he wanted to be "sure what really happened" before he accused Tanner of wrongdoing. Soon thereafter, using a cellular phone previously given to him by I.L., Tanner phoned A.L., and T.L. recorded the conversation and turned it over to law enforcement. (T.80-86)

Dr. Eric Lucas was accepted by the court as an expert in the field of emergency medicine. Dr. Lucas testified that he examined A.L., who was complaining of sexual assault, on May 13, 2004. The patient stated that a family friend had assault her "for the last month and a half," beginning on March 21, and that the assaults had "occurred four to five times thereafter," with the last incident occurring about a week previously. Ultimately, A.L was examined by a sexual assault nurse examiner (SANE), who provided her notes to and discussed the case with Dr. Lucas.² The nursing note stated that "the hymen was not intact." (T.96-101)

A.L. testified that her date of birth was April 20, 1992, which meant that she was between 11 and 12 years old at the time in issue. She had developed a close relationship with Tanner after he moved into the family's house. According to her, "He was like a dad." Tanner routinely slept in her brother's room, but he was usually alone because the brother spent most of his time at their grandmother's house. A.L. slept in the next room with her two sisters. (T.101-06) The parents'

²Because it was unlikely that any evidence remained a week after the final assault, Dr. Lucas elected not to have a rape kit performed. (T.100)

bedroom was on the other side of the house, separated from the children's area by the living room, dining room, and kitchen. (T.108)

A.L. did not remember the date that this incident occurred, but she remembered that it was a school day, and that her father had been looking for her while she was hiding behind the dresser at the end of Tanner's bed. Upon questioning by her father, she told him that she "had just fallen asleep in there." T.L. continued to question A.L. about whether someone had touched her inappropriately. She finally told him that one of her cousins had done so, although she knew that the time this was not true. When asked why she had lied, A.L. testified, "Because Scott had told me not to tell my parents. Whatever I did, not to tell them because he would get in a lot of trouble." (T.109-11)

A.L. went to school, but her mother picked her up shortly afterward and took her home, where A.L. told her the truth about what had happened. In other words, "I told her that it wasn't my cousin. That me and Scott did have intercourse." (T.112-13)

A.L. testified further about what had occurred that morning. Between midnight and 3:00 a.m., Tanner "had thrown something" at her to wake her up. She went into his room, where he had been alone. They went "[s]traight to the bed" where they "had intercourse." A.L. testified explicitly, "[H]e put his penis inside my vagina. … He used his fingers too." He ejaculated. A.L. testified that this had happened "[f]our or five times" previously, with the first instance occurring about a month before this one. (T.113-15)

A.L. went on to testify that prior to this incidents, she and her family had no problems with Tanner, and they had no reason to "make up a story" about him. (T.118)

I.L testified at the time in question, Tanner had been living in the family's house for about five years. Before A.L.'s allegations, I.L. had enjoyed a good relationship with him. Neither she nor

A.L. had any reason to fabricate these allegations. (T.127-29)

The morning that T.L. had found their daughter in Tanner's bedroom, I.L. picked A.L. up from school and asked her "about what was going on." A.L. "came out and told" her what Tanner "had done to her." I.L. immediately demanded that Tanner move out of the house. (T.129-30)

Asked whether she remembered Tanner's suffering from kidney stones during this time period, I.L. testified that she had taken him to the hospital and stayed with him until his mother and sister arrived. After the problem resolved itself, Tanner returned to I.L.'s house and appeared to be "okay." I.L. finally testified that she asked Tanner to remove himself from her house on April 30, the same day that the "incident" occurred. (T.130-32)

On cross-examination, I.L. acknowledged that Tanner had gone to the hospital for treatment of kidney stones on April 27 and stayed there until April 29. (T.140-42)

Ruby Tanner, the defendant's mother, testified that her son went to the hospital, complaining of kidney problems, on April 27 and that he was at her house from that date at least until April 30. To her knowledge, he never returned to T.L.'s residence afterward. (T.156-63) On cross-examination, she wavered, stating, "I don't think he went back." (T.163)

Carla Waltman, the defendant's sister, testified that her brother went to the hospital on April 27, that he went to her mother's house on April 29, that he stayed there through April 30, and that he never returned to T.L.'s house. (T.166-68) On cross-examination, she admitted that while her brother had been arrested and accused of this crime four years ago, she had never given this account to the police. (T.168-71)

Tanner testified that he stayed on his mother's sofa for three days after he was released from the hospital. He also testified that he had treated T.L. and I.L.'s children as his own and that he "never thought about having sex with the kid ..." Finally, he testified that I.L. had told his sister that

she (I.L.) had told A.L that she would be thrown out of the house if she did not say that Tanner had sexually assaulted her. (T.172-77)

On cross-examination, Tanner acknowledged that T.L. and his wife and children had treated him like a member of their family; that they had all gotten along well; and that they had no motivation to accuse him falsely of this crime. He did continue to deny having touched A.L. (T.181-85) Finally, he admitted that when he spoke with A.L. on the telephone shortly after he was told to leave the house, she told him, "When my daddy come [sic] up there to talk to you, you should have just told him." Tanner did not deny the allegations at this point. Rather, he implicitly admitted them, saying, "I don't know. I just—I don't know, you know." At that point he ended the conversation. (T.188-90)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Having agreed to the amendment of the indictment, Tanner cannot be heard to complain about the court's ruling. His first proposition has no merit.

Nor can Tanner show error in the court's denial of his motion to suppress the audio-taped telephone conversation. For the reasons stated in the prosecution's response to the motion to suppress, his second proposition likewise has no merit.

Finally, the verdict is not against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Rather, the proof created a straight issue of fact which was properly resolved by the jury.

PROPOSITION ONE:

TANNER CANNOT PUT THE TRIAL COURT IN ERROR FOR AMENDING THE INDICTMENT AFTER HE AGREED TO THE AMENDMENT

At the conclusion of its case in chief, the prosecution moved to amend the indictment to show that the crime was committed between March 21 and April 30. The defense objected, and the court reserved ruling on the question. (T.154-56)

After both parties had finally rested, and the following was taken:

THE COURT: Let me go back to the issue of the amendment of the indictment. I think everybody has agreed to amend it to read "on or about April 30th," is that correct?

MR. KNOCHEL: 2004.

THE COURT: 2004.

MR. SHADDOCK: I would like to say the 27^{th} through the 30^{th} .

THE COURT: Through the 30th. That time span?

MR. SHADDOCK: Yes.

THE COURT: That's what I thought it should be, based on the testimony.

(emphasis added) (T.191)

The state pressed its case for keeping the "on or about" language, but the court maintained its ruling, stating that "to amend it to conform to the proof would be between the 27th and the 30th." (T.192)

Tanner now contends the court's ruling constitutes reversible error. The state counters that he may not be heard to do so because he not only acquiesced in the amendment, he affirmatively told the court which dates he wanted to be included. *Watts v. State*, 828 So.2d 835, 842 (Miss.App.2002). The court acted exactly as he asked. Apparently, the defense had a tactical basis

for this request and it was granted. Tanner has no basis for complaint at this point. His first proposition plainly lacks merit.

PROPOSITION TWO:

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN OVERRULING THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS THE AUDIO-TAPED TELEPHONE COVERSATION BETWEEN TANNER AND A.L.

Prior to trial, Tanner filed a motion to suppress the audio-taped telephone conversation on the grounds that the minor could not consent to the taping, and that the conversation was privileged.³ (C.P.78) The prosecutor filed a response, well-supported by a authority, which fully rebutted the defendant's assertions. (C.P.79-82) That response is appended hereto as Exhibit "A." The state incorporates it by reference to support its position that the trial court properly denied the motion to suppress. (T. 9) See also *Lee v. Lee*, 798 So.2d 1284, 1293 (Miss.2001). Tanner's second proposition lacks merit.

PROPOSITION THREE

THE VERDICT IS NOT CONTRARY TO THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

Tanner argues finally that this case should be reversed because the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. He faces a heavy burden, which the state contends he has not met. To prevail, he must satisfy the following standard of review:

³These were the only issues raised by the defense below and therefore are the only questions properly before this Court at this juncture. "It is elementary that different grounds than the objections presented to the trial court cannot be presented for the first time on appeal." *Thornhill v. State*, 561 So.2d 1025, 1029 (Miss.1989), cited in *White v. State*, 809 So.2d 776, 779 (Miss.App.2002).

"[T]his Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial." Collins v. State, 757 So.2d 335, 337(¶ 5) (Miss. Ct. App.2000) (quoting Dudley v. State, 719 So.2d 180, 182(¶ 9) (Miss.1998)). On review, the State is given "the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence." Collins, 757 So.2d at 337(¶ 5) (citing Griffin v. State, 607 So.2d 1197, 1201 (Miss.1992)). "Only in those cases where the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice will this Court disturb it on appeal." Collins, 757 So.2d at 337(¶ 5) (quoting Dudley, 719 So.2d at 182).

Carle v. State, 864 So.2d 993, 998 (Miss. App. 2004).

The jury is the sole judge of the credibility of witnesses. *Torrey v. State*, 891 So.2d 188, 192 (Miss. 2004). As this Court repeated in *Price v. State*, 892 So.2d 294, 297-98 (Miss. App. 2004),

We invite the attention of the bar to the fact that we do not reverse criminal cases where there is a straight issue of fact, or a conflict in the facts; juries are impaneled for the very purpose of passing upon such questions of disputed fact, and we do not intend to invade the province and prerogative of the jury.

quoting Evans v. State, 159 Miss. 561, 566, 132 So. 563, 564 (1931).

The state incorporates by reference the evidence set out under its Statement of Substantive Facts in contending that the evidence is not such that to allow the verdict to stand would be to constitute an unconscionable injustice. T.L. found his 12-year-old daughter in the defendant's room early in the morning under suspicious circumstances. That same morning, she admitted that she had had sexual intercourse. While she initially attempted to protect Tanner, she almost immediately acknowledged that he had sexually penetrated her, and she never wavered from that account afterwards. When she confronted him on the telephone, Tanner did not deny the allegations, but simply stated he did not know why he had not admitted these events to A.L.'s father.

Before this incident, T.L., I.L. and their children enjoyed a good relationship with Tanner. They all appeared to be fond of one another, and T.L. and I.L. entrusted Tanner with their children and property. A.L. in particular appeared to have a special friendship with Tanner before the sexual episodes began. It is difficult to imagine why, under these circumstance, anyone would fabricate such charges against him.

The evidence presented by the defense created a straight issue of fact which was properly resolved by the jurors. No basis exists for disturbing their verdict. Tanner's third proposition should be denied.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully submits the propositions made by Tanner have no merit. Accordingly, the judgment entered below should be affirmed.